CASE #, S243247

No:	

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

CITY OF OROVILLE, Petitioner,

ν.

SUPERIOR COURT OF BUTTE COUNTY, Respondent.

CALIFORNIA JOINT POWERS RISK
MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY et al., Real Parties in Interest

Court of Appeal, Third Appellate District, Case No. C077181
Butte County Superior Court Case No. 152036
(Consolidated with Case No. 153408)
The Honorable Sandra L. McLean, Judge
Civil Division – (530) 532-7009

PETITION FOR REVIEW

After a decision by the Court of Appeal
Third District

IMMEDIATE STAY REQUESTED

CRITICAL DATE: October 27, 2017
Further Case Management Conference (and expected Trial Setting)

Mark A. Habib, SBN 150087 mhabib@peterslawchico.com Lia M. Juhl-Rhodes, SBN 268816 ljuhl@peterslawchico.com PETERS, HABIB, MCKENNA & JUHL-RHODES, LLP 414 Salem Street P.O. Box 3509 Chico, CA 95927-3509 Telephone: (530) 342-3593

Facsimile: (530) 342-4742

Attorneys for Petitioner City of Oroville
[Petitioner is exempt from fees pursuant to Govt. Code §6103]

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
I.	LEGAL ISSUES AND QUESTIONS PRESENTED6
II.	STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION – GROUNDS FOR REVIEW7
III.	WHY IMMEDIATE INTERVENTION AND REVIEW IS NECESSARY
IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE10
	A. The Parties
	B. Procedural Background and Court of Appeal Proceedings10
	C. Factual Background11
V.	THERE IS CONSIDERABLE CONFUSION AND WILDLY VARYING RESULTS IN THE LAW SURROUNDING SEWAGE BACKUP CASES AND UNPUBLISHED CASES INVOLVING BACKWATER VALVES SINCE <i>CSAA</i> WAS PUBLISHED
	1) Starks v. City of Los Angeles (2008) Cal. App. Unpub. Lexis 1837, 2008 WL570775 (Second District, Division 3)
	2) <u>Burns v. City of Los Altos</u> (2006) Cal. App. Unpub. Lexis 7527, 2006 WL2442909 (Sixth District)14
	3) Nisevic v. City of Los Angeles (2013) Cal. App. Unpub. Lexis 7402, 2013 WL 5636483 (Second District, Division 5)
	4) <u>City of Oroville v. Superior Court</u> (2017) Cal. App. Unpub. Lexis 4050 and 4158, 2017 WL2554447 (Third District)
	A. The Four Unpublished Cases Involving Missing or Inoperable Backwater Valves Discussed Above All Take CSAA Into Consideration and Reach Wildly Differing Results

PROOF OF SERVICE31

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES Page Cases Albers v. County of Los Angeles (1965) 62 Cal.2d 25022 Arreola v. County of Monterey (2002) 99 Cal.App.4th 72216, 24 Bauer v. County of Ventura (1955) Belair v. Riverside County Flood Control Dist. (1988) 47 Cal.3d 50021, 23 Biron v. City of Redding (2014) 225 Cal. App. 4th 126423 Bunch v. Coachella Valley Water Dist., (1997) Burns v. City of Los Altos (2006) Cal. App. Unpub. Lexis 7527, 2006 WL2442909 (Sixth District)......14, 19, 21, 24, 26, 27 California State Auto Ass'n Inter-Insurance Bureau v. City of Palo Alto ("CSAA") (2006) City of Oroville v. Superior Court (2017) Cal. App. Unpub. Lexis 4050 and 4158, Connect to Communications, Inc. v. City of Glendale (2008) Cal.App. Unpub. Lexis 9426 and Hayashi v. Alameda County Flood Control (1959) 167 Cal.App.2d 584.....24 Kelly v. Contra Costa Water District (2015) Cal.App. Unpub. 2015 WL55575324

Page
McMahan's of Santa Monica v. City of Santa Monica (1983) 146 Cal.App. 3d 68316, 21
Nisevic v. City of Los Angeles (2013) Cal. App. Unpub. Lexis 7402, 2013 WL 5636483 (Second District, Division 5)
Pacific Bell v. City of San Diego (2000) 81 Cal. App. 4th 596 16, 21, 24
Paterno v. State of California (1999) 74 Cal.App.4th 68 16, 24
Starks v. City of Los Angeles (2008) Cal. App. Unpub. Lexis 1837, 2008 WL570775 (Second District, Division 3)
Tilton v. Reclamation Dist. No. 800 (2006) 142 Cal.App.4 th 84824
Statutes
California Code of Civil Procedure § 1260.04010
Government Code § 818.6
Rules
California Rules of Court 30 Rule 8.049(c) 30 Rule 8.500(a)(1) 7 Rule 8.500(b)(1) 7, 9 Rule 8.500(e)(1) 6
Other Authorities
City of Oroville's Ordinances 26 Ordinance No. 1200 26 Ordinance No. 1450 26 Ordinance No. 1450, Part 6 26 Ordinance No. 1719 26
Uniform Plumbing Code, 1982 Edition, Section 40926

TO THE HONORABLE TANI GORRE CANTIL-SAKAUYE, CHIEF JUSTICE OF THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA, AND THE HONORABLE ASSOCIATE JUSTICES:

Petitioner City of Oroville respectfully petitions this Court for review of the Opinion of the Court of Appeal, Third Appellate District, filed unpublished on June 13, 2017 as modified on June 16, 2017, to resolve entirely unsettled questions of law on issues of statewide concern. No matter how the court decides the issue, it needs to be resolved because there are issues of statewide importance with no published opinion on the issues presented, and courts of appeal are in direct conflict when deciding and issuing unpublished decisions on the issues presented. The Opinion of the Court of Appeal became final on July 13, 2017. Thus, this petition is timely under California Rule of Court 8.500, subdivision (e)(1). A copy of the opinion of the Court of Appeal is attached as Exhibit A.

I.

LEGAL ISSUES AND QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- 1. Whether inverse condemnation liability against a public entity for sewage backup into real property should be applied where the design and operation of the sewer system is defeated by plaintiffs' violations of state and local building code ordinances requiring the installation and maintenance of functioning backwater valves on private property sewer laterals to prevent sewage backups onto private property.
- 2. Whether strict liability can be applied against a public entity when sewage intrudes on private property without evidence of a design or construction defect in the sewer system, without evidence of a deficient or unreasonable plan of maintenance by the public entity, and where a backwater valve is not installed and maintained on

private property by owners as legally required by state and local building codes.

3. Whether a public entity is strictly liable in inverse condemnation whether its properly designed and constructed public improvements function as intended, or fail to function as intended.

II.

STATEMENT OF JURISDICATION - GROUNDS FOR REVIEW

California Rules of Court, rule 8.500(a)(1) and 8.500(b)(1) state in pertinent part as follows:

Rule 8.500. Petition for review

- (a) Right to file a petition, answer, or reply
 - (1) A party may file a petition in the Supreme Court for review of any decision of the Court of Appeal, including any interlocutory order, except the denial of a transfer of a case within the appellate jurisdiction of the superior court. ...
- (b) Grounds for review
 The Supreme Court may order review of a Court of Appeal decision:
 - (1) When necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law; ...

(CRC, Rule 8.500(a)(1) and 8.500(b)(1).)

III.

WHY IMMEDIATE INTERVENTION AND REVIEW IS NECESSARY

This case presents critical and important questions of law impacting hundreds of public entities that provide sewage disposal services throughout Cities and Counties of the State of California, potentially millions of private property owners throughout the State, and untold millions of dollars in actual and potential expenses and expenditures of public and private funds. An immediate stay and review by this Court is necessary and should be granted because:

- 1. There are no published legal decisions from any California Court of Appeal on the issues presented namely, the law governing inverse condemnation claims arising out of sewage intrusions on private property where legally required "backwater valves" designed to prevent such intrusions are not installed and maintained on private property sewer laterals by private owners as required by State and local building and plumbing codes;
- 2. This issue is of continuing and urgent statewide concern. The issues raised by this case implicate important public policies that impact governmental entities and citizens throughout the entire

¹ The backwater valve under discussion is a valve that is often required to be installed on a private sewer lateral under the California Building and Plumbing Codes, typically installed where the private sewer lateral connected to a municipality's sewer main enters the private building. (Vol.6, Ex.38, pp. 1256, 1282, 1310.) It consists of a "coupling" type fitting with a flap that opens and closes, allowing affluent from the private structure to exit the structure into the sewer lateral flowing towards the sewer main and then the flap closes, preventing affluent from the private sewer lateral and municipal mainline to enter the building. (See generally Vol.6, Ex.38, pp. 1256, 1299.) The coupling device is normally accompanied by an access box type structure that has an above ground lid allowing access to the valve to clean and maintain the backwater valve as required, to ensure its continued operation. (Vol.6, Ex.38, p. 1311.) Plaintiffs and their representatives did not include the required backwater valve on plans submitted to the City of Oroville. Determining the necessity of a backwater valve requires a private survey or other determination by property owners of the elevation of the top of the public sewer main, in relation to the elevation of plumbing fixtures (tops of toilets, shower drains, sink drains, etc.) planned for in the private structure. (See Vol.6, Ex.38, p. 1261.)

State of California, resulting in tremendous expense and litigation in the courts below that will be diminished or eliminated by a clear statement from this Court on the legal issues presented.

- 3. Four unpublished decisions in different jurisdictions throughout the State over the past ten years have reached wildly different and sometimes (as in this case) legally untenable results when grappling with the issues presented, all after considering language in the published decision of California State Auto Ass'n Inter-Insurance Bureau v. City of Palo Alto ("CSAA") (2006) 138 Cal.App.4th 474. As a result, it will be of great benefit statewide for the rule of law governing inverse condemnation involving sewage backups in cases these or related circumstances, where building code requirements on private buildings interface with public utility connections,² to be examined and established by this Court. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).)
- 4. Review is appropriate because of the high likelihood that public entities, private individuals, and attorneys throughout the state will continue to wade through *CSAA* and unpublished decisions

² A partial list of privately designed for and privately installed, owned, and maintained devices required or often required under California building codes include: (1) backwater valves for public sewer connections; (2) backflow valves for public water connections; (3) gas regulator valves for public gas connections; and, electric utility panels for public electricity connections. It is hard to imagine public policy and applicable law ignoring these decades long standing obligations of private landowners, by automatically holding municipalities and public utility companies liable in inverse condemnation when sewage intrusion, flooding, gas explosions or fires involving private property are caused by the failure of private citizens to install these devices.

on this area of law at tremendous expense and burden to the courts and parties, trying to determine how the law does, or should, apply to sewage intrusion cases involving missing backwater valves, such that the legal issues involved should be clarified and resolved through a published decision by this Court.

IV.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Parties

Petitioner CITY of OROVILLE (hereinafter "CITY" or "Oroville") is a public agency within the meaning of Government Code §6252, subdivision (d), and a defendant in an action now pending in Respondent Superior Court entitled *Wall, et al. v. City of Oroville, et al.* Butte Superior Court Case No.: 152036 (consolidated with 153408).

Plaintiffs Timothy Wall, DDS, Sims W. Lowry, DMD, and William A. Gilbert, DDS, individually and doing business as WGS DENTAL COMPLEX (hereinafter collectively "WGS") and The Dentists Insurance Company³ (hereinafter "TDIC") are named herein as real parties in interest.

Respondent is the Superior Court of Butte County. Petitioners request review of the Opinion issued by the California Court of Appeal, Third Appellate District.

B. Procedural Background and Court of Appeal Proceedings

Plaintiffs WGS and Plaintiff-in-Intervention TDIC sought a determination of the CITY's liability for inverse condemnation, by motion procedure pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure section 1260.040.

³ The California Joint Powers Risk Management Authority (CJPRMA) is the Assignee of plaintiff The Dentists Insurance Company pursuant to a settlement of subrogated first party property damage claims and assignment of rights between TDIC and CJPRMA, notice of which was filed with the Court of Appeal on October 30, 2014.

The trial court granted WGS and TDIC's motions, finding CITY liable for inverse condemnation in a ruling filed on July 25, 2014, which was subsequently made an Order of the trial court. The case was set to go to trial on the remaining tort cause of action for nuisance (on liability and damages), and for a trial on inverse condemnation damages.

On August 25, 2014, CITY filed a Petition for Writ of Mandamus in the Third District Court of Appeal, Case No. C077181, seeking reversal of the superior court order (described below) finding liability as a matter of law against CITY on the inverse condemnation claim. CITY petitioned the Appellate Court to review and set aside the trial court liability ruling, asking for an immediate stay of the superior court proceedings to relieve it of the duty to conduct a lengthy (anticipated three month) trial. CITY's Petition for Writ of Mandate was granted by Alternative Writ and the case was stayed. After about thirty (30) months in the appellate court, the Third District's, the Court of Appeal's June 13, 2017 opinion denied the Petition for Writ of Mandate and vacated the stay previously imposed.

CITY petitions this Court to challenge the finding of liability based upon inverse condemnation where plaintiffs defeated the design of the CITY's sewer system by failing to install and maintain a legally required backwater valve on the private sewer lateral connection to their building.

C. Factual Background

On December 29, 2009, sewage from CITY's sewer main entered the plaintiff's building through the building's private lateral service line that did not have a legally required backwater valve in place. The CITY's Public Works crew later discovered and removed root growth partially blocking flow through the sewer main. The relevant portion of CITY's sewer main where the partial blockage occurred had never before experienced a backup

⁴ Pages 1 and 6-14 from the trial court's ruling are attached as Exhibit B. (10 pages.)

between 1985-1986, when plaintiffs constructed and began occupying their building, until the date of the incident in 2009. CITY's main line at the location in question had been serviced/maintained by Petitioner only two months or so before the incident. There was no evidence presented in the case below of deficient maintenance or a deliberately deficient maintenance plan on the part of Petitioner. The quality of design and construction of Petitioner's sewer main was not challenged or at issue in the proceedings below.

Applicable plumbing codes and CITY ordinances in place when WGS constructed their building required the installation and ongoing maintenance of a back flow prevention device (hereinafter "backwater valve" or "BWV") on WGS's private sewer lateral to interface with the design and operation of CITY's sewer system. Based on WGS's failure to install a backflow prevention device at their property, WGS's building constituted a public nuisance under the CITY's municipal code on the date of the incident. The design of the CITY's sewer system, which relies on adherence to building and plumbing codes and includes manholes for access which allow for the escape of sewage from manholes immediately upstream of any sewer line blockage, is the accepted engineering method for the proper design of sanitary sewage mains.

V.

THERE IS CONSIDERABLE CONFUSION AND WILDLY VARYING RESULTS IN THE LAW SURROUNDING SEWAGE BACKUP CASES AND UNPUBLISHED CASES INVOLVING BACKWATER VALVES SINCE CSAA WAS PUBLISHED

Since CSAA⁵ was decided in 2006, there have been at least five (5) unpublished appellate opinions that address inverse condemnation as it

⁵ CSAA is discussed in greater detail below, at page 20 and following.

relates to municipal sewage systems, with four (4) cases involving missing or malfunctioning backwater valves. The four (4) backwater valve related cases⁶ were decided in different districts (Second, Third, and Sixth), with wildly differing results. It is unknown how many cases or settlements have worked their way through the system statewide, or at what cost, that are not documented in public records. Petitioner believes the number of cases is high and that costs of litigation amount to many, many millions of dollars spent on this issue throughout different parts of the State.

Petitioner has found no published case in the State of California addressing the legal issues presented in missing backwater valve cases. This has resulted in confusion, multiple unpublished cases grappling with these issues, and highly disparate results among the four (4) unpublished appellate decisions.

Below are summaries of the appellate courts' holdings in the four (4) unpublished cases involving missing or inoperable backwater valves found by CITY:

1) <u>Starks v. City of Los Angeles</u> (2008) Cal. App. Unpub. Lexis 1837, 2008 WL570775 (Second District, Division 3)

⁶ The fifth sewer case <u>did not</u> involve the issue of a legally required backwater valve. In *Connect to Communications, Inc. v. City of Glendale* (2008) Cal.App. Unpub. Lexis 9426 and 2008 WL5124008 (Second District, Division 4) Connect to Communications (Connect) sued the City of Glendale (the City) for inverse condemnation after sewage overflow from a public sewer main damaged Connect's premises. (*Id.* at *1.) The appellate court found that evidence regarding maintenance was immaterial to the issue, applying *CSAA*. The court stated that "inherent risks of damage to private property... materialized and caused damage." (Id. at *5.) "A danger inherent to the construction of a sewer line is that the line will become clogged and blocked by roots or other foreign material (the exact situation which materialized and caused damage to Connect's property) and on that basis the City was liable to Connect for its damages." (*Id.* at *5.)

Plaintiffs and appellants James and Joyce Starks sued defendant and respondent City of Los Angeles ("City") for damages incurred when a City sewer line backed up, causing sewage to flow into their home. The Starks alleged causes of action for inverse condemnation, nuisance, dangerous condition of property, and negligence. After the Starks presented their evidence, the trial court granted a nonsuit in favor of the City on all causes of action except nuisance. The basis of the trial court's ruling was a determination that the Starks had violated a City ordinance requiring them to install a "backwater valve" to protect their home from sewage backups. "Had the Starks installed the valve as required, they would not have been harmed." On appeal, the Starks contended the trial court erred in its interpretation of the controlling ordinance. The appellate court concluded the trial court correctly interpreted the unambiguous language of the ordinance, and therefore affirmed. (Id. at *1.) The appellate court found that "the ordinance, was 'part and parcel' of the deliberate design of the sewer system, required the Starks to install a backwater valve and that the Starks' failure to install the backwater valve resulted in the system not functioning as designed, due solely to the Starks' error." (Id. at *7, original italic emphasis.) The appellate court also found that the City was not even partially liable for the Starks' failure to install the backwater valve based on Government Code section 818.6 (inspection immunity). (Id. at *fn 22.) Further, "the sewer system was found to have functioned exactly as intended; sewage backed up into the Starks' home because they failed to comply with the ordinance requiring them to install a protective backwater valve." (Id. at *fn 23, original italic emphasis.) The court specifically distinguished CSAA on this basis. (Ibid.)

2) <u>Burns v. City of Los Altos</u> (2006) Cal. App. Unpub. Lexis 7527, 2006 WL2442909 (Sixth District)

Plaintiffs Thomas and Deborah Burns appealed from a judgment

after a court trial in their action for inverse condemnation, nuisance, and trespass. They contended that the trial court erred in finding that the sewer maintenance practices of defendant City of Los Altos did not cause the damage resulting from the intrusion of sewage into their home from a blocked main line. The appellate court found no error and affirmed the judgment. Plaintiffs' residence was constructed during 1983 and 1984. The construction was completed, inspected, and approved without the installation of a "backwater valve" or backflow device to protect the property from the backflow of sewage. On February 3, 2003, plaintiffs' home was flooded with sewage and contaminated water from a blocked sewer main. Plaintiffs' shower drain inside was 3.91 feet lower than the manhole cover immediately upstream of the residence and a backwater device was required. The trial court determined that the installation of a backflow device on plaintiffs' property was required, and that sewage would not have intruded into their home if the valve had been in place. In other words, the court concluded the absence of this preventive device "defeated the proper functioning of the sewer system as deliberately designed and constructed." (Id. at *2.) This finding was based in part on another section of City's Ordinance, which described the habitation of any building in violation of City ordinances as a public nuisance. (*Ibid.*) The court found this to be a "strong public statement which, at the very least, leads to a reasonable inference that the lack of such a device defeats the deliberate design of the City's sewer system." (Ibid.) Accordingly, the trial court concluded that the City's sewer main had not caused plaintiffs' damages. The trial court further found that the City's liability depended on its having engaged in a deliberate plan or a calculated risk by implementing maintenance plans that it knew were inadequate and would likely cause damage to users of the system. (*Ibid.*) That situation was not present; instead, "the City adopted, funded and implemented a proactive plan of sewer maintenance intended to keep the City's sewer mains flowing without obstruction." (*Ibid.*) Consequently, the City's maintenance program "was not, under the facts of this case, a legal cause of Plaintiffs' damage." (*Ibid.*) The appellate court analyzed whether the City caused plaintiff damages by the following test: "whether the City's maintenance of the sewer system was in accordance with a deliberate plan or omission; and, if so, whether its deliberate conduct or failure to act was a substantial cause of the harm suffered by plaintiffs. Only if the first question is answered in the affirmative is the second question necessary for a verdict of liability." (*Id.* at *3.) The appellate court stated:

When, as here, a public entity's maintenance of a public improvement is in question, its liability for inverse condemnation necessitates a finding that the entity engaged in "a deliberate act to undertake the particular plan or manner of maintenance." (Arreola v. County of Monterey (2002) 99 Cal.App.4th 722, 742; see also Bauer v. County of Ventura (1955) 45 Cal.2d 276, 285-286 [deliberate taking or damaging for maintenance is compensable act].) Simple negligence cannot support a constitutional claim of inverse condemnation. (Ibid.) Thus, poor execution of the entity's maintenance plan is by itself insufficient to constitute a taking. (Paterno v. State of California (1999) 74 Cal. App. 4th 68, 87; Bauer v. County of Ventura, supra, 45 Cal.2d at pp. 285-286.) On the other hand, liability can be shown if the entity "was aware of the risk posed by its public improvement and deliberately chose a course of action -- or inaction -- in the face of that known risk." (Arreola, supra, 99 Cal.App.4th at p. 744, original emphasis.)

(Id. at *3.)

In discussing liability and determining the "City had not adopted, implemented, or funded a maintenance plan that it knew was inadequate and that created a risk of damage to users of the sewer system," the appellate court examined *McMahan's of Santa Monica v. City of Santa Monica* (1983) 146 Cal.App. 3d 683 and *Pacific Bell v. City of San Diego*

(2000) 81 Cal. App. 4th 596 [water main break cases indicating that inverse liability depends on establishing this element]. (*Id.* at *4.) The court also distinguished *CSAA* on that same basis. (*Id.* at *5.)

3) <u>Nisevic v. City of Los Angeles</u> (2013) Cal. App. Unpub. Lexis 7402, 2013 WL 5636483 (Second District, Division 5)

Nisevic owned a house in Venice, California, that was damaged by a sewer backup on August 4, 2010, caused by root intrusion in the City's sewer main. The house was connected to the sewer main in an alley behind the house. The City maintained the sewer main as a public improvement. Sewage damaged various parts of Nisevic's home-office. After two sewage backups occurred while the previous owner owned the property, the previous owner hired a plumber to install a backwater valve on the lateral line running from the house to the main sewer line in the alley. The valve, if functioning properly, would prevent sewage from passing back into the house in the event of a blockage. Backwater valves are required on lateral connections to the main sewer line, installed by licensed plumbers with a permit. No permit could be found for the valve on the property, nor did it have the required vault built around the valve, which is designed to allow access for maintenance and cleaning. At the time of the incident, there was not a manhole in place behind the property. The City contended that one existed, but had been paved over before the incident. After the incident, the City installed a manhole or "terminal maintenance hole." Furthermore, it was discovered that the sewer main was "tilting the wrong way, causing the sewer to run uphill" from Nisevic's home. There was evidence that the backwater valve failed due to the improper slope of the sewer main. The court found the City caused the damage to plaintiff because: 1) the terminal maintenance hole (manhole) was missing; 2) there was no evidence Nisevic removed the manhole; 3) other manholes in the area were also missing; 4) the City admitted that sometimes it paved over manholes on accident; 5) the

sewer main was tilted at an improper angle that allowed sewage to move into the lateral line rather than flow downhill; and, 6) the improper tilt could cause solid material to get under the flap on the backwater valve, resulting in a malfunction that allowed sewage to pass in the direction of the home. (*Id.* at *4.)

4) <u>City of Oroville v. Superior Court</u> (2017) Cal. App. Unpub. Lexis 4050 and 4158, 2017 WL2554447 (Third District)

City of Oroville v. Superior Court is the basis of this Petition, wherein the Third District Court of Appeal, relying heavily on CSAA, imposed strict liability on Petitioner Oroville while ignoring the issue of plaintiffs' failure to design for, install, and maintain a legally required backwater valve on their property, suggesting that Petitioner Oroville should have itself ensured the BWV was installed on plaintiffs' property if a backwater valve was necessary to avoid damage to plaintiff's property.

A. The Four Unpublished Cases Involving Missing or Inoperable Backwater Valves Discussed Above All Take CSAA Into Consideration and Reach Wildly Differing Results.

The Third District Court of Appeal's remarkable assertion that Petitioner Oroville was responsible to make sure that plaintiffs obeyed the law by complying with building and plumbing codes by installing a backwater valve⁷ makes no legal sense in light of: (1) the factual record establishing that civil engineering surveys of property and internal private plumbing fixture elevations in relation to the public sewer pipe mainline elevation are required to determine if a BWV is legally required on private property under the code; (2) private owners are required to make that determination through obtaining land surveys to determine if BWV devices

⁷ The Third District's holding is in direct conflict with the Second District's holding in *Starks v. City of Los Angeles* (2008) Cal. App. Unpub. Lexis 1837, 2008 WL570775 at *7 and fn 22 (Second District, Division 3). (See Section V(1) above.)

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