S243247

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

CITY OF OROVILLE, Petitioner,

v.

SUPERIOR COURT OF BUTTE COUNTY, Respondent.

TIMOTHY G. WALL, D.D.S.; SIMS W. LOWRY, D.M.D.; WILLIAM A. GILBERT, D.D.S., INDIVIDUALLY AND DOING BUSINESS AS WGS DENTAL COMPLEX, Real Parties in Interest.

Court of Appeal, Third Appellate District, Case No. C077181
Butte County Superior Court Case No. 152036
(Consolidated with Case No. 153408)
The Honorable Sandra L. McLean, Judge
Civil Division – (530) 532-7009

ANSWER TO CITY OF OROVILLE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL THIRD DISTRICT

BERDING | WEIL LLP

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

III. LEGAL ARGUMENT

- A. Supreme Court Review is Unnecessary to Secure Uniformity of Decision or to Settle an Important Question of Law
 - 1. The Law is Settled a Public Entity is Liable in Inverse Condemnation when the Public Improvement Constitutes a Substantial Concurring Cause of the Injury

The elements of inverse condemnation law are well settled by this Court, namely, that a public improvement, as deliberately designed, implemented, or maintained, caused the taking, destruction, or damage of private property. San Diego Gas & Elec. Co. v. Superior Court (1996) 13 Cal.4th 893 and Cal. Const. Art. I, § 19. In Belair v. Riverside County Flood Control Dist. (1988) 47 Cal.3d 550, 559-560, this Court held in inverse condemnation cases, when independently generated forces contribute to the injury, proximate cause is established when "the public improvement constitutes a substantial concurring cause of the injury, i.e. where the injury occurred in substantial part because the improvement failed to function as intended. Belair v. Riverside County Flood Control Dist. (1988) 47 Cal. 3d 550, 559. "A public improvement is a 'substantial concurring cause' if other forces alone would not have caused the damage and the public improvement failed to function as intended." Id.

Relying on *Belair*, the Sixth Appellate District in *California State Auto. Ass'n Inter-Insurance Bureau v. City of Palo Alto* (2006) 138 Cal.App.4th 474, 479, held Plaintiff met the element of causation when it was established a sewage blockage occurred in the city's main sewer line. The Court found as a result, the public work failed to function as intended and a showing of how or why the blockage occurred was not required. *Id.* at 483. The Court specifically stated the decision "should not be taken as converting an inverse condemnation claim into a solely strict liability concept. The homeowner here had the duty to demonstrate the actual cause of the damage to him." *Id.* at 510.

The Second and Fourth Appellate Districts have made similar findings with regard to causation in inverse condemnation. Inverse condemnation does not require any breach of a standard of care nor

foreseeability of the harm. Aetna Life & Cas. Co. v. City of Los Angeles (1985) 170 Cal.App.3d 865. Thus, "any actual physical injury to real property proximately caused by a public improvement as deliberately designed or constructed is compensable under Cal. Const. art I, §19, whether or not the injury was foreseeable." Id. at 873-74. The deliberateness requirement is met by a public "improvement that as designed and constructed presents inherent risks of damage to private property, and the inherent risks materialize and cause damage." Pacific Bell v. City of San Diego (2000) 81 Cal. App. 4th 596, 607.

Here, the cause of the sewage backup is known and undisputed. The backup was caused by a tree root blockage in the sewer main line owned by the City. The City acknowledges the cause of the backup in its Petition for Review at section IV(C), page 11. Plaintiffs' private property was damaged by a sewage backup from the City sewer mainline. The evidence establishes, and the City admits in mandatory reports to State agencies, deposition testimony and its Petition for Review that roots had invaded the City's sewer mainline, creating a blockage which backed up sewage into Plaintiffs' property. The City acted deliberately with respect to the design, construction, operation, and maintenance of its own sewer system. inherent risk of a sewer system is blockage caused by roots or other foreign material in the sewer main. Because of the roots, the City's sewer system did not take and dispose of waste material as it should have but, instead, caused the waste to back up and enter onto Plaintiffs' property. The City sewer main failed to function as intended. Thus, the blockage in the City's mainline is a substantial or proximate cause of the sewage spill. Whether or not the root blockage was foreseeable and whether the City acted reasonably in the operation of its sewer system is irrelevant for the purposes

of determining proximate cause in an inverse condemnation action. Thus, under the rationale of *Belair* and *CSAA*, as the trial court found and appellate court affirmed, the City is liable under inverse condemnation.

Although the trial judge stated the ruling was based on undisputed facts, the trial judge, in fact, made factual determinations as to causation and determined "root intrusion is the primary cause of the blockage.". (City's Petition for Review, Ex. B at p. 13:21-22). In ruling on a motion for judicial determination of liability for inverse condemnation pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure Section 1260.040, the court has the right to weigh evidence to make factual determinations and adjudicate the issues. *Dina v. People ex rel. Dept. of Transp.* (2007) 151 Cal.App.4th 1029, 1040, 1044.

2. The Absence of a Backflow Preventer Alone was not the Sole Cause of the Sewage Spill.

Throughout this litigation, the City has contended that if Plaintiffs' privately owned sewer lateral had been equipped with a backflow prevention device as required by City Ordinance, the sewage intrusion would have never occurred. The City simply ignores inverse condemnation case law. To plead a valid claim for inverse condemnation, the Plaintiffs need only prove that other forces alone did not cause the damage. Belair v. Riverside County Flood Control Dist. (1988) 47 Cal. 3d 550, 559. "Even if there were several concurrent causes, the public improvement need only be one substantial cause of the damage in order for liability to attach." Belair v. Riverside County Flood Control Dist. (1988) 47 Cal.3d 550, 559. Moreover, "when more than one substantial factor or cause has operated to produce the damage, each important causal element may produce legal liability, notwithstanding the contribution of others." Yue v. City of Auburn

(3d Dist. 1992) 3 Cal. App. 4th 751; Souza v. Silver Development Co. (1st Dist. 1985) 164 Cal. App. 3d 165; Blau v. City of Los Angeles (2d Dist. 1973) 32 Cal. App. 3d 77, 107.

To the extent the lack of a backflow preventer constituted an additional cause, it is not possible the lack of a back flow preventer, by itself would have caused the sewer overflow. To the contrary, the damage would not have occurred if the sewer system had not failed. If the sewer system was functioning as intended – i.e., transporting waste away from structures – there would have been no need for preventive devices, such as a backflow preventer. The system failure was a substantial cause of the damage. Even assuming there is no backflow preventer, the backflow preventer alone could not have caused the sewage overflow and the City is still liable as the City's deliberately constructed, operated, and maintained improvement failed to function as intended. *Belair supra*, 47 Cal.3d at 559-60.

3. The City's Citation and Reliance on Unpublished Cases Violates the Rules of Court. Plaintiffs' Case is Unique and Distinguishable from each of the Unpublished Cases.

The City cites to and relies on three unpublished appellate opinions in its Petition for Review. California Rules of Court, Rule 8.1115(a)-(b), prohibits a party or court from citing or relying on an unpublished opinion in any other action. The City has previously cited these cases in the trial court on two occasions – in its failed motion for summary judgment proceedings and in Plaintiffs' motion for judicial determination on inverse condemnation liability proceedings.

The City is prohibited from relying on these cases. Moreover, each of the cases is factually dependent and distinguishable from Plaintiffs' case. Here, the City has admitted and the trial court found that a blockage in the City's main sewer line was the primary cause of the sewage backup causing damage to Plaintiffs' property. The City employees submitted reports and testified in deposition the primary cause of the sewer backup was a blockage in the City's sewer main line. None of the unpublished decisions involved facts similar to this case. The published case law is clear – when a public improvement is a substantial concurring cause of damage to a private owner's property, the public entity is liable in inverse condemnation.

IV. CONCLUSION

There are no grounds for review in this matter as the well-settled published case law is clear on liability for inverse condemnation. The trial court correctly found and the Third Appellate District in a well-reasoned opinion affirmed the City is liable for inverse condemnation. Based on the foregoing, Plaintiffs' respectfully request the Court deny the City's Petition for Review.